A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Rhonda L. Duncan asks this court to accept review of the decision 

designated in Part B of this motion. 

B. DECISION 

Petitioner Duncan timely seeks review of the unpublished decision in Case 

No. 33245-4-III, issued on August 18, 2016. See Appendix A. 

C. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR and ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Petitioner Duncan makes the following assignments of error: 

The appellate court erred in rewriting unambiguous statutory language under 

the guise of interpretation. Specifically, the lower court interpreted the text of a 

statutory definition ("prescription" as defined in 82.02.0281(4)) by unwarranted 

recourse to technical dictionaries to interpret the words "formula" and "order." The 

definitions found in the technical dictionaries used the medical term "prescription" 

as part of the definition. In essence, the lower court interpreted a plain-word statute 

by resort to circular logic and technical terminology. The lower courts' error is in 

direct conflict with state law, represents a significant misuse of the proper tools for 

construing a statute, and thus involves a general issue of public interest. RAP 2.3. 

The issues are as follows: 

1. Whether the plain wording of the statute providing for tax exemption for 

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY .REVIEW • Page 4 



"prescription" sales was ambiguous as found by the lower court? 

2. Whether the Court of Appeals erroneously applied technical medical 

definitions to mis-interpret the plain language in a non-ambiguous statute? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The following facts are taken from the decision below. Appendix A at 1. 

Rhonda Duncan operated a lawful "medical marijuana dispensary" 1 doing 

business as The Compassionate Kitchen. Initially in 2008 she was advised that 

retail sales tax did not apply and she consequently did not charge tax. In 2009, 

however, she learned that the Department of Revenue took a contrary view, and 

accordingly she reported her retail sales revenue and personally paid the required 

· tax. In 2011, Ms. Duncan sought a refund of the taxes paid for the January-

December 2009 tax period. The amount in question was $19,312.38. She argued 

that the statutory exemption for prescriptions found in RCW 82.08.0281 applied to 

medical carmabis sales. 

The Department rejected Duncan's arguments. Ms. Duncan then 

appealed to the Board of Tax Appeals arguing that former RCW 82.08.0281 

1 Over time the state has moved to referencing marijuana under its botanical name: 
cannabis. For example, the Liquor and Cannabis Board regulates recreational and 
medical cannabis use. The parties agree that Ms. Duncan operated a lawful 
dispensary for medical cannabis or marijuana in 2009. This petition will use the 
term cannabis to align the terminology, the two terms are synonymous. 

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW • Page 5 



specified that retail sales of drugs intended for human use were exempt from taxes. 

She relied upon the plain language of the tax exemption rule which provides a 

unique definition for "prescription". This definition is far broader in scope than the 

term is used in RCW 69 (controlled substance regulations), or in analogous federal 

legislation, or by the medical profession. 

The relevant portions of the tax exemption rule states as follows: 

The tax levied by RCW 82.02.020 shall not apply to sales of drugs for 

human use dispensed or to be dispensed to patients, pursuant to a 

prescription. * * * 

"Prescription" means an order, formula, or recipe issued in any form of 

oral, written, electronic, or other means of transmission by a duly 

licensed practitioner authorized by the laws ofthis state to prescribe. 

RCW 82.08.0281(1) (2004). 

The Board upheld the Department's order denying Duncan an exemption for 

medical cannabis retail sales, ruling that medical cannabis was not dispensed 

pursuant to a prescription because no physician is allow~d to prescribe (as that 

term is used by medical practitioners and pharmacists) cannabis. Ms. Duncan 

appealed to the Superior Court for Spokane County. That court determined that the 

plain wording ofRCW 82.08.0281 broadly included a physician's authorization 
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for medical cannabis and, under the statutory definition of a "prescription," that 

authorization was tantamount to a "prescription" as defined in the statute. 

The Department appealed to Division III. The appellate court held that the 

superior court erred and reversed. Appendix A at 4, 6-12. 

The appellate court analyzed the tax exemption statute in conjunction with 

RCW 69.51A.010(5)(a) (2007)- the state's controlled substance statutory 

scheme. This scheme provides that a physician may authorize the use of medical 

cannabis and provide "valid documentation" allowing the patient to obtain the drug 

from a lawful dispensary. The court conceded that the controlled substance 

exception for medical cannabis use did not provide any cannabis patients with the 

equivalent of a prescription - as that term is generally used in the medical field 

-but that here, given the tax statute's definition of prescription, the court would 

have to examine whether authorization by a physician permitting a patient to use 

medical cannabis under RCW 69 met the tax provision's definition of a 

prescription in RCW 82.02. Appendix at 4. 

The lower court noted that Duncan conceded that a "prescription" - as that 

term is used in medical parlance - for cannabis was not recognized under state or 

federal law. Duncan's argument was not that a medical cannabis authorization by a 

Washington State physician was the equivalent to a prescription under controlled 

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW • Page 7 



substance laws; Duncan argued that a medical cannabis authorization, however, 

was a "prescription" as that term was specifically defined by RCW 

82.08.0281(4)(a) (2004). Appendix at 7. 

The lower court correctly set forth the standard of review and noted that 

Washington State used the plain meaning rule to construe a statute's language. 

Appendix at 5-6. The court agreed that where no ambiguity arose, the court must 

give effect to the statute's plain meaning and that any exemption in a tax statute 

must be proven by the taxpayer. Appendix at 6. The lower court further agreed 

with Duncan that the definition for "prescription" had to follow the explicit 

statutory language. Appendix at 8. 

The lower court, however, held that Duncan was not entitled to a refund as 

her retail sales of medical cannabis did not come under the exemption statute. The 

lower court gave two reasons. 

Lower court's first rationale. The lower court first analyzed the phrase, "by 

a duly licensed practitioner authorized by the laws of the state to prescribe" and 

concluded that it must be interpreted as if"prescribe" was used as a transitive verb 

-one requiring an object- and the object here is "carmabis." Since no 

physician can prescribe cannabis under state or federal law, cannabis cannot be a 

proper prescription under the tax exempt statute. Appendix at 8-10. The court 
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reached this conclusion by reference to "related statutes" and by the rule requiring 

that a court not construe a statute in a manner that resulted in "unlikely, absurd or 

strained consequences." Appendix at 10. The court held that it was absurd that the 

legislature would exempt from tax a sale that was for a drug that could not be 

legally prescribed. Note that the court did not address that it was not illegal to sell 

the cannabis, just that it was illegal to prescribe it. In reaching that conclusion, the 

court necessarily used the term "prescribe" as it is generally used, not as the statue 

set forth. For example, the court rested its logic on this statement: 

It is not unlikely or absurd to infer a legislative intent to tax 
revenue or income from criminal activity. It is unlikely and 
absurd to infer a legislative intent to bestow a tax benefit on 
such activity." 

Appendix at 11. No analysis addressed whether this rationale was appropriate 

given the fact that in Washington, a physician could lawfully recommend cannabis 

and provide a patient with the legal authority to obtain cannabis from a dispensary. 

In reaching this conclusion, the lower court rejected Duncan's grammatical 

arguments that the "nearest-reasonable-referent" canon of construction. As Duncan 

argued, the statute was not ambiguous when read grammatically. When read 

grammatically, the phrase modifying "licensed practitioner" required that the 

doctor be "authorized by the laws of this state to prescribe," not that the physician 

be authorized by the laws of this st:;tte to (in a general sense) "prescribe" cannabis. 

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW • Page 9 



The lower court took Duncan's plain reading as an argument that the statute 

was ambiguous and, upon that interpretation, held that the ambiguity must be 

applied against the taxpayer. Duncan in fact never argued that the statue was 

ambiguous. Her brief to the Superior Court plainly stated in quoting the statute 

that: "The text is unambiguous ... " Respondent Tax Board acknowledged that 

Duncan had never argued ambiguity. Board's Opening Brief at 20. The sole 

argument available to the Tax Board was that Duncan disputed the ungrammatical 

reading the Board advanced in its beliefthat the statute required a licensed 

practitioner who could prescribe the item in question. 

The lower court also brought legislative history into the discussion to 

construe the plain meaning.ofthe statue, finding a reference from a Senate Bill 

Report in which the key language for an amendment was offered to clarify that " 

'[a] prescription for items or drugs that are exempt must be prescribed by a person 

whose license authorizes him or her to prescribe the item or drugs.' S.B. REP. ON 

S.B. 6515, at 1, 3, 58th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2004)." Appendix at 12. The lower 

court did not justify its resort to legislative history to interpret the statute's plain 

language other than its suggestion, contrary to Duncan's argument, that the statute 

was ambiguous. 

Lower court's second rationale. The lower court further held that a 
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physician's authorization for medical cannabis could not be a prescription under 

the statute because the statute's definition of prescription required an "order, 

formula, or recipe" and medical cannabis authorizations were merely a statement 

of an opinion about possible benefits of medical cannabis- not an order, formula, 

or recipe. As a mere "statement of opinion," the authorization documents were not 

a prescription udner RCW 82.08.0281(4)(a). As proof, the lower court interpreted 

the text allowing dispensing of cannabis on an authorization as falling short of 

indicating "the type of product, the quantity, or dosage, all elements of a 

prescription." Appendix at 13, emphasis added. The lower court did not justify its 

return to the general definition of prescription- which requires these elements 

plus an Rx symbol on the form- in derogation of the statute's explicit definition of 

prescription. The lower court however did note that its conclusions were in line 

with the Department's argument that "federal law requires that medical orders for 

dispensing controlled substances be specific" by requiring drug names, strengths, 

dosage forms, quantity, and directions for use. Appendix A at 14. Then in 

justification of its logic, the lower court resorted to technical medical dictionaries 

to interpret the word "order." Appendix at 14-15. 

Duncan, for her part, has steadfastly argued that the statute is plainly worded 

and that the legislature's intent was to exempt the cost of sales tax for the people of 

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW • Page 11 



Washington who, on their physician's recommendation, purchase legally 

obtainable drugs for medical relief. This result is neither absurd nor in conflict with 

any of portion ofRCW 82.08.0281 's text. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

1. A finding of ambiguity must be genuine and faithful to the text of 
the statute; because the characterization "ambiguous" results in 
a benefit to the agency interpreting the statute, the courts must 
be especially careful not to overwrite the intent of the legislature. 

Duncan has never argued that the statue was ambiguous. Indeed, she has 

argued that the rules governing ambiguity are not applicable. The statute provided 

its own definition of the term prescription and that term was broadly defined with 

ordinary words. Nothing in the statute's tax exemption language states that a 

physician's authorization to obtain a controlled substance must be a substance that 

is legal under federal law. Nothing in the statute's language states that the ordinary 

terms used in the text- other than the word "prescription" itself- requires 

technical interpretation. 

This Court has determined that ambiguity requires more than conceivable 

contesting meanings: 

Ambiguity arises "when it is" 'susceptible to two or more reasonable 
interpretations,' but 'a statute is not ambiguous merely because different 
interpretations are conceivable.' "Estate of Has elwood v. Bremerton Ice 
Arena, Inc., 166 Wash.2d 489, 498, 210 P.3d 308 (2009) (quoting State v. 
Hahn, 83 Wash.App. 825,831,924 P.2d 392 (1996)). 
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State v. Gonzalez, 168 Wn.2d 256, 263 (2010). Only where a genuine ambiguity 

exists may the interpreting court "attempt to discern the legislative intent" from 

legislative history. Similarly, where a statute is ambiguous, a court may look to 

"authoritative agency interpretations of disputed statutory language." State v. 

Armendariz, 160 Wn.2d 106, 110-111 (2007). Specifically, a state board's "policy 

decision" is owed great weight when filling a legislative gap and some deference 

when it interprets an ambiguous statute that it is charged with implementing, 

Department of Labor & Indus. v. Rowley, 185 Wn.2d 186, slip op. at 10 (2016). 

Here there is no gap and no textual ambiguity. 

The error below arises from a poorly considered application of the term 

ambiguity? A mis-characterization of a statute as ambiguous opens the doors to 

considerable mischief. In particular, in cases such tax challenges where ambiguity 

is resolved against the taxpayer and in favor of the agency, the characterization 

2 The standard example of ambiguity used in contemporaneous texts gives this 
example: "Send us 100 bolts and nuts. " From the text alone, without amplification, 
the command could mean send 100 bolts and 100 nuts, or send 100 units of a mix 
of bolts and nuts, or send 100 pairs of bolts or nuts. All three meanings are packed 
within the original sentence. To be ambiguous, however, does not mean that
with the addition or deletion of some of the text- a different meaning could arise. 
To the text "by a duly licensed practitioner authorized to prescribe" the lower 
court added a phrase that utterly changes the meaning; the court then said that its 
new meaning was more plausible; and the court then concluded that the statute was 
therefore ambiguous. This is not a proper test. Changing a sentence's meaning by 
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grants wide latitude to the agency that interprets the statute. Washington's rule 

· granting wide latitude to Revenue Department when its statutes are ambiguous is a 

departure from the general rule putting the drafter at risk for ambiguity. The 

criminal rule oflenity encourages the legislature to spell out clearly its desires and 

intentions; the contract rule for adhesion documents works similarly. In 

Washington, however, the Revenue Department is the beneficiary of any statutory 

ambiguity. Duncan does not challenge that rule; Duncan challenges the method by 

which a court reaches the determination that a statute is ambiguous. 

First, the term should not be favored over the plain text of a straightforward 

statute. In this instance, the court argued that because it could imagine another 

interpretation, that alone created ambiguity. This test is too easy: to permit a 

court's wide ranging survey of inapposite statutes and non-conforming uses is an 

invitation to unwarranted judicial creativity. 

Having defined "prescription" in broad terms, the legislature's intent for the 

remainder of its plainly worded statute should not be ascertained by reference to 

technical dictionaries or by speculating whether additional words (not actually 

contained in the statue) render a different meaning. Both approaches are wrong: 

adding or subtracting words is emphatically not how one tests for ambiguity. 
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First, technical dictionaries obviously employ the standard medical meaning 

for the word "prescription" - not the meaning mandated within the statute. The 

use of such dictionaries in effect re-writes the statute. 

Second, the lower court's finding of ambiguity stems from its willingness to 

edit the text by adding language found in a committee report and then interpret the 

statute as modified. Appendix at 10-11. Had the court stayed with the plain text, it 

cannot convert the text's intransitive use of the term "authorized by the laws of this 

state to prescribe" into the new unpassed version along the lines suggested by the 

committee: "prescribed by a person whose license authorizes him or her to 

prescribe the item or drugs." 

This Court should grant review so that litigants and lower courts are 

disabused of the practice of characterizing a statute as being ambiguous unless 

there has been a genuine and faithful reading ofthe text and ambiguity naturally 

arises from the text, not from a desire to rewrite the statute. 

2. The non-technical statutorily-defined term "prescription" cannot be 
interpreted by resort to technical definitions that themselves employ a 
medical version of the term "prescription." 

By using technical medical dictionaries to define "order" and "formula" the 

lower court rewrote the statute's definition of prescription: for example, at page 15 
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of the decision, the lower court interprets the term "formula." The definition it 

chose was from two medical dictionaries. Both defin~tions define formula as part 

of a "prescription" - and neither dictionary use the term "prescription" as it was 

defined in RCW 82.08. This alone makes the lower court's use of a medical 

dictionary problematic: the term "prescription" is statutorily defined in 

Washington's tax exemption statute in an manner completely distinct from its 

common medical use. Resort to a medical definition to provide a meaning for the 

statute's other terms is inconsistent with the legislatures stated intent to treat the 

term prescription in a broad non-technical manner. 

Duncan aclmowledges that the appellate court initially agreed that it was 

confined to the statute's definition of"prescription" but it nevertheless ushered into 

its rationale for reversal the medical version of the word prescription when it 

turned to interpret the remainder of the statute. Had the legislature intended 

"prescription" to be used in its medical sense, as a technical term, it would not 

have provide the broad plain language definition found in RCW 82.08. As matters 

stand the court of appeals has used the tenn prescript both as it was defined and as 

it is used in common medical parlance. This was done in order to construe a 

plainly worded statute. 

Although Duncan is accused of circular logic in some of the decisions 
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leading up to this petition, the fact is that the Court of Appeals cannot reach its 

conclusions except by disregarding the statutory definition. Under the guise of 

making an interpretation of technical terms ("order" or "formula") the lower court 

simply jettisoned the legislature's intended definition for "prescription" and 

substituted a non-complying version. The lower court's dictionaries define "order" 

and "formula" by circular reference to the very term the court states it is 

interpreting. 

Given the statute's non-standard definition of"prescription," Stedman's and 

Taber's medical dictionaries are not appropriate sources to define "order" and 

"formula." 

3. Judicial interpretation of a statute is not an opportunity 
to rewrite a statute's plain language. 

The rules for statutory interpretation are worthy of Supreme Court attention 

when misused. In this case, the lower court has departed from the standards to such 

a degree that review is warranted in this non-published case. 

The primary goal of statutory interpretation is to determine and give effect to 
the legislature's intent. [Citation omitted]. To determine legislative intent, 
we first look to the plain language of the statute. [Citation omitted]. In 
evaluating the statute's language we consider "the language of the provision 
in question, the context of the statute in which the provision is found, and 
related statutes." [Citation omitted]. 

To discern the plain meaning of undefined statutory language, we give 
words their usual and ordinary meaning and interpret them in the context of 
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the statute in which they appear. AllianceOne Receivables Mgmt., Inc. v. 
Lewis, 180 Wn.2d 389, 395-96, 325 P.3d 904 (2014). If the plain meaning of 
a statute is unambiguous, we must apply that plain meaning as an expression 
of legislative intent without considering extrinsic sources. Jametsky, 179 
Wn.2d at 762. We do not rewrite unambiguous statutory language under the 
guise of interpretation. Cerrillo v. Esparza, 158 Wn.2d 194, 201, 142 P.3d 
155 (2006). 

Isaiah William Newton, Jr., v. State of Washington, 192 Wash.App. 931, 936 

(Div. II, 2016),petition denied,_ Wn.2d_, 2016 WL 4542108. 

F. CONCLUSION 

This court should accept review of the Court of Appeals decision in order to 

clarify the rules governing the determination of when a statue is ambiguous and 

when a non-ambiguous statute's definitional terms may be interpreted by resort to 

extraneous sources.