NO. 93646-3 

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

RHONDA L. DUNCAN, d/b/a THE COMPASSIONATE KITCHEN, 

Petitioner, 

►Ia 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, 

Respondent. 

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW 

ROBERT W. FERGUSON 
Attorney General 

David M. Hankins 
Senior Counsel 
WSBA No. 19194 
7141 Cleanwater Ln. S.W. 
P.O. Box 40123 
Olympia WA 98504-0123 
(360) 753-7084 
OID No. 91027 

RECEIVED 
SUPREME COURT 

STATE OF WASHINGTON 
Oct 17, 2016 10:24 AM 

CLERK'S OFFICE 
___________________________________ 

RECEIVED VIA PORTAL

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

IV. REASONS WHY THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW 

Duncan's petition fails to address the grounds under RAP 

13. 4(b )( 1 )-( 4) that guide the Court in determining whether to grant 

discretionary review. Therefore, her petition should be denied. But, even if 

the Court were to consider her petition in light of RAP 13 .4(b ), her 

petition does not meet the required criteria and should be denied. 

A. The Unpublished Court Of Appeals Decision Does Not Conflict 
With Either Supreme Court Or Court Of Appeals Decisions. 

The first two considerations outlined in RAP 13 .4(b) apply if the 

petition presents a conflict with a Supreme Court or Court of Appeals 

decision. Neither of these criteria is met. The appellate courts have not 

addressed whether in the context of the sales tax exemption for 

prescription drugs, RCW 82.08.0281, sales of medical marijuana qualify 
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for the exemption. 1 In interpreting the statute, the Court of Appeals 

applied the rules of statutory construction consistent with established 

precedent. The case does not present a conflict with the Supreme Court 

decisions or among the divisions of the Court of Appeals. 

B. Duncan's Petition Fails To Present A Significant Question Of 
Law Under The State Or Federal Constitution. 

This case does not present either a federal or state constitutional 

issue under RAP 13.4(b)(3). Duncan's petition challenges only the Court's 

application and construction of the prescription exemption statute. The 

Court of Appeals properly and correctly applied established precedent and 

the rules of statutory construction. Duncan thus fails to meet this third 

consideration. 

C. Duncan's Petition Fails To Demonstrate An Issue Of 
Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Determined By The 
Supreme Court. 

Duncan urges this Court to accept discretionary review "to clarify 

the rules governing the determination of when a statue [sic] is ambiguous 

and when a non-ambiguous statute's definitional terms may be interpreted 

1 A petition for direct review involving the identical issue of whether sales of 
medical marijuana qualify for the sales tax exemption under RCW 82.08.0281 is pending 
before this Court in three consolidated cases: Rainier Xpress Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue; 
Triple C. Collective LLC v. Dep' of Revenue, and Green Collar Club v. Dep't of 
Revenue. These cases have been consolidated on appeal under Supreme Court docket 
number 92992-1. The briefs have yet to be filed in this matter. The superior court denied 
the refund claims in these three cases, concluding consistently with the Board of Tax 
Appeals and the Court of Appeals in this case, that sales of medical marijuana do not 
qualify for the sales tax exemption for prescription drugs. See Rainier Xpress Inc. v. 
Dep't ofRevenue, Notice of Appeal, Ex.l. 
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by resort to extraneous sources." Pet. at 18. The Court of Appeals 

correctly applied the general rules of statutory construction in determining 

whether sales of medical marijuana qualified as a "prescription" under 

RCW 82.08.0281(4)(a). This case does not present an issue of substantial 

public interest that should be interpreted by this Court. 

Duncan sought a sales tax exemption from collecting sales tax for 

the sales of marijuana for medical use. Taxation is the general rule, and 

exemptions are the exception. Budget Rent-A-Car v. Dep 't of Revenue, 81 

Wn.2d 171, 174, 500 P.2d 764 (1972) ("Exemptions to a tax law must be 

narrowly construed"). The Court of Appeals appropriately applied this 

Court's established precedent in placing the burden of showing the 

qualification for the benefit of a tax exemption with the taxpayer. Opinion 

at 6 (citing Group Health Co-op. of Puget Sound, Inc. v. Washington State 

Tax Comm 'n, 72 Wn.2d 422, 429, 433 P.2d 201 (1967)). 

The Court of Appeals also applied this Court's established 

precedent in construing the plain meaning of the statute: "Under the 'plain 

meaning' rule, examination of the statute in which the provision at issue is 

found, as well as related statutes or other provisions of the same act in 

which the provision is found, is appropriate as part of the determination 

whether a plain meaning can be ascertained." Opinion at 5-6 (citing City 

ofSeattle v. Allison, 148 Wn.2d 75, 81, 59 P.3d 85 (2002) (quoting 
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Department of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9-10, 

43 P.3d 4 (2002))). 

Relying on this Court's precedent as its starting point, the Court of 

Appeals began by examining the statutory language for the sales tax 

exemption to those drugs "dispensed to patients pursuant to a 

prescription." RCW 82.08.0281(1). "Prescription" under the statute means 

"an order, formula, or recipe issued in any form of oral, written, 

electronic, or other means of transmission by a duly licensed practitioner 

authorized by the laws of this state to prescribe." RCW 82.08.0281(4)(a). 

Applying this statutory definition, the Court deemed the statute 

plain and unambiguous that "practitioners authorized by the laws of this 

state to prescribe" did not include authorizations to use marijuana for 

medical use. The Court concluded that "no duly licensed practitioner in 

Washington can legally prescribe marijuana," following this Court's 

precedent that marijuana cannot be legally prescribed or filled by a 

pharmacist. Opinion at 10 (discussing Seeley v. State, 132 Wn.2d 776, 

783, 940 P.2d 604 (1997) ("Marijuana cannot be legally prescribed, nor 

can a prescription for marijuana be filled by a pharmacist in Washington .. 

. . ")).Further, Duncan had conceded that medical marijuana authorizations 

were not prescriptions within the meaning of the controlled substances 

statutes. Opinion at 4, 7; Duncan Response Br. at 1. 
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The Court of Appeals did not, however, end its analysis there. It 

further opined that even if it were to consider the language "by a duly 

licensed practitioner authorized by the laws of this state to prescribe" as 

ambiguous, the principles of statutory interpretation would support the 

Department and Board of Tax Appeal's construction. Opinion at 11. The 

Court turned to legislative history to confirm that "prescription" would 

have to be a drug a licensed practitioner would be authorized to prescribe. 

Opinion at 12-13. Because marijuana cannot be prescribed pursuant to 

federal or state law, there is no exemption from sales tax for the sale of 

medical marijuana. The Court of Appeals analysis did not depart from 

established precedent in construing the statute. 

The Court of Appeals next addressed Duncan's argument that the 

authorization qualified as a prescription because it was an "an order, 

formula or recipe." Opinion at 13. As these terms were not defined in the 

statute, the Court of Appeals properly construed the words in the context 

of medical usage. As the Court pointed out, Duncan cited no authority that 

a "prescription in common parlance need not contain specifics." Opinion 

at 14. The Court referred to medical dictionaries to define the terms "an 

order, formula, or recipe." Opinion at 14-15. The Court relied on this 

Court's precedent when it decided to apply the technical meaning of the 

terms. "Where words carry special significance in a particular field, the 
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courts should resort to a technical definition. See Tingey v. Haisch, 159 

Wn.2d 652, 658, 152 P.3d 1020 (2007)." Opinion at 15. The Court 

concluded that the medical marijuana authorization under these definitions 

did not constitute an "order, formula, or recipe." As the Court held: 

Medical marijuana authorizations do not require or direct 
anyone to dispense marijuana. They do not specify or 
mandate treatment or services. They do not prescribe 
ingredients, proportions, or directions for compounding. 

Opinion at 16. 

Although Duncan takes exception to the Court's construction of 

the statute, she fails to address to this Court how the Court of Appeals' 

method of interpretation, consistent with established precedent, involves 

an issue of substantial importance. 

This case also fails to raise an issue of substantial public interest 

because the Legislature has amended the law, effective July 1, 2016, to 

exempt sales of marijuana for medical use from the sales tax.2 Laws of 

2015, 2d Spec. Sess., ch.4, § 207 (adding a new section to RCW 82.08.). 

In addition to the changed circumstances, this subsequent legislation also 

supports the conclusion that before the change in the law, sales of medical 

marijuana were subject to sales tax. Duncan's petition fails to demonstrate 

2 Although the Legislature is allowing medical marijuana to be sold exempt 
from the retail sales tax starting in July 2016, the Legislature allowed no exemption for 
retail sales of medical marijuana from the marijuana excise tax. Effective July 1, 2015, 
that tax is 37% of the selling price. Laws of2015, 2d Spec. Sess., ch. 4, § 205(1)(a), 
§ 1605. The marijuana excise tax was not in effect during the 2009 tax year at issue here. 
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that the issue of statutory construction is of a substantial public interest 

that must be decided by this Court. 

V. CONCLUSION 

Duncan does not identify or explain why any of this Court's 

criteria for discretionary review are met, because none are. This case 

involved straightforward statutory interpretation, and the Court of Appeals 

issued a thorough, logical opinion that is entirely consistent with this 

Court's precedent. This Court should deny review.